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PURPOSE AND SCOPE
EHT Traceries prepared this Historic Structures Report (HSR) for the Mizell Building, located at 
10500 St. Paul Street, in Kensington, Maryland in late 2018 and early 2019 to provide documentation 
to assist the Montgomery County Historic Preservation Commission in its review of the propoed 
rehabilitation to the building. The one-story simple frame structure was constructed in c. 1902 as 
a general store. The building, along with its neighbor to the north, is considered a contributing 
resource to the Kensington Historic District. Rehabilitation of the building is an integral part of the 
redevelopment of the site. The Montgomery County Historic Preservation Commission must approve 
plans for the rehabilitation in order to obtain a Historic Area Work Permit. 

This HSR has been developed in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment 
of Historic Properties and Preservation Brief 43: The Preparation and Use of Historic Structure Reports. 
Historic Structure Reports were first developed by the National Park Service in the 1930s, and since 
then have become a nationally recognized tool for the documentation and preservation of historically 
significant buildings and structures. Historic Structure Reports document the history and physical 
appearance of a building and provide guidance to property owners, architects, architectural historians, 
contractors, and regulatory review bodies prior to treatment. This guiding document will reflect and 
incorporate responsible preservation practices into the rehabilitation and future maintenance of the 
building. 

Specifically, this Historic Structure Report includes the following: 

1. Introduction and background information regarding the genesis and purpose of this report 

Figure 01 East (front) facade of Mizell Building. 
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(Chapter 1); 

2. Detailed narrative of the building and site history, including development and construction 
history and historical context (Chapter 2); 

3. Evaluation of building significance and integrity, and identification of character-defining 
features (Chapter 3);

4. Physical description and assessment of existing conditions (Chapter 4);

5. Recommendations for treatment (Chapter 5); and 

6. Glossary of terms, bibliography, and appendices. 

SITE OVERVIEW 
Located at 10500 St. Paul Street, the Mizell Building occupies a trapezoidal parcel of approximately 
84,129 square feet (1.93 acres). Located in Kensington, just north of the historic Metropolitan Branch 
of the Baltimore and Ohio Railway, the parcel makes up a portion of a hexagonal block that is bound 
by Metropolitan Avenue to the north, St. Paul Street to the east, railroad tracks to the south, and 
Connecticut Avenue to the west.  A gas station was constructed north of the Mizell Building. Both 
historic buildings are surrounded on all sides by Asphalt paving. 

The simple, one-story, wood-frame commercial structure was likely constructed in c. 1902 to serve as 

Figure 02 Site map showing existing conditions. Historic Preservation Commission. 
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a general store that would be occupied by William Mannakee. Since its construction, it has served as a 
general or hardware store despite passing through several owners. 

The property is considered a contributing building to the Kensington Historic District, which was first 
listed in the Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties in 1978. The building is not individually listed 
in the Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties.  

PROJECT BACKGROUND
The Mizell Building, located at 10500 St. Paul Street, and the adjacent historic gas station, located  
at 10520 St. Paul Street, are contributing resources to the Kensington Historic District that will be 
featured as part of a larger proposed development for the site. The applicant, McCaffery Interests, has 
proposed to rehabilitate the two historic buildings, construct a new five-story senior housing complex 
to the rear of the historic buildings, and create a new connection between the historic buildings and 
adjacent new construction. EHT Traceries was retained to prepare a Historic Structure Report in order 
to present the Mizell Building’s history, evaluate its significance, identify and provide guidance on the 
building’s integrity, and provide recommendations for its treatment during rehabilitation work. 

METHODOLOGY 
The purpose of a Historic Structure Report is to provide a compilation of the findings of research, 
investigation, analysis and evaluation of a historic building with the goal of providing recommendations 
for its future preservation. This report will function as a stand-alone reference that can guide all future 
design and maintenance efforts for the building. 

The HSR effort began in late 2018. 

The project methodology included the following: 

Research. Building on existing research findings, EHT Traceries conducted additional investigation to 
serve as the basis for a detailed historic context and narrative for the project. Research was conducted 
at, but was not limited to, the Kensington Historical Society, the Montgomery County Historical 
Society, the Library of Congress, and the Montgomery County and DC Public Libraries. Historic 
photographs and other textural records were utilized to develop a framework for the building’s design, 
construction, and evolution. 

Document Review. This report relies on and corrects the investigation of previously completed reports 
and studies whose findings were reviewed and adapted in the creation of this report. This includes 
the “Kensington Historic District” Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form (M 31-6) listed in the 
Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties (MIHP) in 1978.  

Evaluation of Significance and Integrity. This report incorporates and builds upon information 
presented in the MIHP documentation.  

Identification and Condition Assessment of Character-Defining Features. EHT Traceries 
conducted several surveys of the building’s exterior and interior in August and November 2018 in order 
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to identify and photograph existing conditions. An additional survey was conducted by Structura, 
Inc., a structural engineering firm. Through a comparison of the survey findings against historical 
documentation, EHT Traceries developed an inventory and analysis of extant historic features and 
their respective condition. This section will be updated as necessary to incorporate Structura’s findings. 

Treatment Recommendations. Taking into account the building’s architectural and historical 
significance and integrity, general recommendations for the treatment and rehabilitation of the building 
and its character-defining features were developed for the property. 

195



The Mizell Building  

12    

Page intentionally left blank.

196



Chapter 2

SITE AND BUILDING HISTORY 

197



14     |     Chapter 2

THE MIZELL BUILDING Historic Structure Report

SITE AND BUILDING HISTORY 
DEVELOPMENT OF KENSINGTON 

When the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad (“B&O Railroad”) built the Metropolitan Branch from 
Washington to Point of Rocks, Maryland through Montgomery County in 1873, the area now known 
as Kensington was farm land, owned largely by Alfred Ray, Daniel Brown, George Duvall, and George 
Knowles. 

The railroad was built through Knowles’ property and provided a north-south transportation route for 
farmers to travel and transport goods between Washington and Rockville. At a point approximately 
ten miles from Washington, the railroad intersected with Bladensburg Turnpike, a market road that 
ran east-west through the Montgomery County, at a point that became known as Knowles Station.   

Following the introduction of the railroad, the farming community began to expand. By 1880, Knowles 
Station had a population of 75. While the majority of the community was still made of farmers, there 
were also several carpenters, bricklayers and plasters, a blacksmith, and a postmaster.1 

In the 1880s, a general store was opened on the north side of the railroad tracks. The store was first 
operated by William Mannakee, son-in-law of George Knowles. Mannakee was born near Olney, 
Maryland, but spent the majority of his life farming in the Kensington area. In 1865, he married 
Georgia Knowles. As with several of the Knowles descendants, Mannakee retained several parcels of 
land north of the railroad. 

1 The History of Montgomery County, Maryland from its Earliest Settlement in 1650 to 1879 (Clarksburg: T. H. S. Boyd, 
1879), 133. 

Figure 03 Hopkins Atlas of 15 Miles around Washington, including the county of Montgomery, Maryland 1879. Library of 
Congress. 
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By the end of the decade, The Washington Post observed that “the development along the Metropolitan 
Branch within the past few years has been phenomenal.”2 Real estate investors, including Brainard 
H. Warner, who earned his fortune as the founder and president of the Washington Loan and Trust 
Company and president of the District of Columbia Board of Trade, opined that the rapid growth was 
due to the fact that “the locality is healthful and the scenery delightful, as well as the congeniality of the 
people and the accessibility of the several settlements to Washington.”3 It is of no surprise then that by 
1890, a syndicate of Washington businessmen, including Warner, had purchased approximately 220 
acres of land at Knowles Station, and subsequently subdivided the land. As part of the subdivision, the 
area was renamed to Kensington. On November 15, 1890, a plat of Warner’s subdivision, Kensington 
Park, was recorded.4 By this time, St. Paul Street, which crossed the railroad tracks, served to connect 
both sides of the burgeoning town.

HISTORIC OVERVIEW OF 10500 ST. PAUL STREET

Original Construction on the Site 

Following the completion of the Metropolitan Branch 
of the B&O Railroad, landowner George Knowles 
constructed a large three-story frame building that was 
rectangular in plan on the north side of the railroad, 
facing St. Paul Street.5 This store was located on Lot 7 
of a 224 1/4 acre tract of land called “The Resurvey on 
Part of Josephs Park”, as recorded in 1870.6  As one of 
the only buildings of note between Washington and 
Rockville, it became a familiar sight to travelers on the 
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, serving as a post-office, 
store, and station.7 

In 1895, a serious fire emerged, all but destroying 
the building, then owned by William H. Mannakee, 
Knowles’ son-in-law. At the time of the fire, the 
ground floor was occupied by a general produce 
store, while the upper floors served as a dwelling and 
boarding house. 

While it appears Mannakee attempted to rebuild a 
building on that site in 1896, it does not seem as if he 

2 “Coming up like Magic: Towns of the Metropolitan Branch,” The Washington Post, 18 February 1889, 6.
3 “Coming up like Magic: Towns of the Metropolitan Branch,” The Washington Post, 18 February 1889, 6.
4 Plat, Kensington Park, recorded 15 November 1880, Liber J.A. No. 23 Folio 2, Montgomery County Circuit Court. 
5 “Fire at Kensington: An Old Landmark, Formerly Railroad Station, Destroyed,” The Washington Post, 10 November 

1895, 2.
6 Patented Certificate 400, Surveyed for and Patented to George Knowles, made 7 July 1870, Montgomery County 

Circuit Court. 
7 “Fire at Kensington: An Old Landmark, Formerly Railroad Station, Destroyed,” The Washington Post, 10 November 

1895, 2. 

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

FIRE AT KENSINGTON.: An Old Landmark, Formerly the Railroad Station, Destroyed.
The Washington Post (1877-1922); Nov 10, 1895; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: The Washington Post
pg. 2

Figure 04 “Fire at Kensington,” The Washington Post, 
November 10, 1895.  
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was successful until 1897 when a two-story wood frame store house and hall was constructed.  

In December 1900, Mannakee’s wife, Georgia, leased “the premises known as Mannakee’s Store 
including store room and dwelling overhead, stable, and coal bins and yard attached” to Reuben A. 
Howell for forty dollars a month for the continued use of grocery, provision, coal and livery stable.”8 

Two years later, another fire broke out, and again the building experienced significant damage.9 No 
documentation has been found to date confirming how much of the store was rebuilt; however, a 
historic photograph from circa 1902 shows a one and one-half story wood frame building clad in 
wood siding at the location of the extant Mizell Building. Similar, although not identical to the Mizell 
Building, the 1902 photograph indicates that the building was covered by a front facing gable roof 
with a moderate pitch with a central rectangular opening in the gable.  The building at that time 
featured a simple wood porch that extended the entire first floor of the façade, covering the central 
entry door which was flanked by two windows. In the photograph the porch appears to have had 
narrow wood columns and applied ornamentation. A central brick chimney is seen at the rear of the 
building piercing the gable roof. 

Subsequent Alterations 

In 1908, Aurthur Williams purchased the property from William Mannakee.10 Arthur and his brother 
Harry operated a grocery store in the building.11 

By 1911, the small building had been expanded with the addition of two end wings of equal width 
on either side of the original core. The wings were covered by flat roofs that extended from the front 

8 Lease, Georgia C. Mannakee to Reuben A. Howell, made 8 December 1900, Kensington Historical Society. 
9 “Serious Fire at Kensington,” The Washington Post, 21 March 1902. 
10 Deed, Georgia A. Mannakee and William H. Mannakee to Arthur Williams, made 15 May 1908, recorded 28 May 1908, 

Liber JLB 198 Folio 248-249, Montgomery County Circuit Court. 
11 Wilson L. Townsend, “Knowles Station and the Town of Kensington 1870-1963,” The Montgomery County Story VII, 

No. 1 (1963): 2, http://montgomeryhistory.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Vol7No1_MCStory.pdf. 

Figure 05 Kensington Station, Mile 11, circa 1902. Robert Humphreys Railroad 
Station Collection, Montgomery County Historical Society.
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Figure 06 10500 St. Paul Street outlined in red. Sanborn Map Company 1911.

Figure 07 10500 St. Paul Street outlined in red. Sanborn Map Company 1924.
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Figure 08 Looking west from railroad tracks at St. Paul Street crossing, circa 1915-1921. Expanded building with additional 
window and expanded porch visible. Baltimore Division, Kensington Metropolitan Sub Division, B & O Railroad Museum. 

Figure 09 Rear cross-gable addition visible. Twombley automobile hit in 1927 on the St. Paul railroad crossing, Kensington 
Volunteer Fire Department, cited in Kensington Picture History. 
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facing gable and were concealed by low parapet walls clad in wood shingles. Scuppers on the front of 
the parapet wall drained water to the porch roof. The 1911 Sanborn Map shows the porch stretching 
only the width of the original portion of the building and identifies the building’s use as a grocery and 
hardware store. The building and porch roofs were covered in metal. 

Around the same time, an addition covered by a cross gable roof with a jerkinhead was added to the 
rear (west) elevation. Per the 1911 map, it appears the addition did not extend the full length keeping 
a niche at the north corner.

A photograph taken from the railroad circa 1915-1921 partially shows the building, including a new 
expanded porch that stretched the full width of the building. The porch floor was concrete and accessed 
from St. Paul Street via a concrete ramp and step. The porch was covered by a hipped roof clad in 
standing-seam metal, with a chamfered corner on the south side. The newly constructed wings are also 
visible in the photograph, revealing a two-over-two light wood sash double hung window close to the 
edge fo the facade. The building appears to be clad in wood German lap siding by this time. 

In 1919, William J. Umstead acquired the property from Williams for continued use as a general 
store.12 In 1923, Umstead took out a mortgage for a sum of $5,000.13 It is likely this mortgage was 
taken out to cover the construction of a wood-frame garage structure located on the same lot to the 
north of the general store. The 1924 Sanborn Map shows that the two buildings were connected 
with a one-story frame connection. Additionally, the rear cross gable addition had been constructed 
extending the full width of the building by this time.

A historic photograph taken from a vehicle accident nearby circa 1927 provides a partial view of the 
rear (west) elevation and north side elevation of 10500 St. Paul Street. By this time, the building is clad 
in horizontal siding and the roof is covered in a continuous standing-seam metal roof. The chimney 
remains at the center of the original mass.  The north side gable end features decorative octagonal-
cut wood shingles and a central rectangular attic vent opening. The rear elevation features a doorway 
and three windows with differing configurations. Two of the windows appear to have a six-over-six 
configuration while the central window has a two-over-two configuration, similar to those windows 
seen on the front façade. The window openings are framed by shutters that also do not match.

Mizell Lumber
In 1921, Russell Mizell moved his family to Kensington, Maryland from Gettysburg, Pennsylvania 
with the hopes of opening a sawmill and lumber yard. Initially, he opened his operation at a site 
located at the corner of Knowles Avenue and Beach Drive, near Rock Creek.14 After two major floods, 
Mizell made the decision to relocate his lumber yard to higher ground. In 1931, he acquired the 
property at public auction for $7,300 from the Savings Institution of Sandy Spring, Maryland after 

12 Deed, Arthur William to William J. Umstead, made 15 September 1919, recorded 2 December 1919, Liber PBR 284 
Folio 190-191, Montgomery County Circuit Court. 

13 Mortgage, William J. Umstead indebted to the Savings Institution of Sandy Spring, Maryland, made 9 August 1923, 
recorded 15 October 1923, Liber 339 Folio 170-173, Montgomery County Circuit Court. 

14 “Lumber Company has Roots Deep in Local History,” Mizell Lumber & Hardware Co., Inc., 1, 3, accessed Kensington 
Historical Society. 
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Figure 10 10500 and 10520 St. Paul Street clad in vertical wood siding. E. Pen Stephens, 1983, Kensington Historical Society.

Figure 11 10500 St. Paul Street, November 1995. Kensington Historical Society. 
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Umstead defaulted on his payments.15 The Mizells operated their lumber and hardware business out 
of the building until 2016 at which time the property was vacated. The gas station, which was also 
included as part of the purchase, was operated independently as a gas station until the 1990s. 

By the 1983, both 10500 St. Paul Street and the garage building at 10520 St Paul Street to the north 
were clad in vertical wood siding, which replaced or covered the original German lap siding. Above 
the porch roof at the façade, the gable and wings were clad in an irregular wood shingles. Scuppers 
had been added to the parapet wall above the wings to allow drainage from the main roof onto the 
porch roof.  The windows at the outer edge of the façade (on the front façade of the wings) had been 
covered up by the vertical cladding. Shutters were installed at the gable roof attic opening. Equipment, 
including an electrical panel, were also added to the façade.  By this time, asphalt paving had covered 
the concrete ramp and first step at the front porch. 

Between 1983 and 1995, the building’s exterior was significantly renovated.  The work included:

• Replacement of the vertical wood panels with horizontal German lap siding, consistent with 
the building’s originally cladding; 

• Replacement of the simple wood posts at the porch with turned columns and addition of 
decorative brackets; 

• Addition of a partial balustrade at the porch; 
• Replacement of the wood shingles in the gable with scallop wood shingles, though the 

shingles remained at the wings; 
• Replacement of wood trim. 

During this time period, a single room addition covered in a gable roof was added to the east corner 
of the north elevation. The addition is clad with German lap siding and is topped by a metal roof, 
blending its appearance with the original structure. The addition resulted in the reconfiguration of the 
rear elevation including removal of all of the original windows. The doorway was retained but the door 
appears to have been replaced with a flat seam metal panel roof. The rear cross-gable roof appears to 
have been replaced at this time. Snow guards were added along the rear roof line. A concrete pad was 
also added at the southwest corner.

15 Deed, Frederic L. Thomas and Charles F. Brooke to Russell Mizell, made 9 April 1931, recorded 8 September 1931, 
Liber 520 Folio 133-135, Montgomery County Circuit Court.  
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IDENTIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) documentation provides the following statement of 
significance for the Kensington Historic District: 

The Kensington Historic District is a turn-of-the-century urban, primarily residential, 
area which incorporates most of the original core of the town of Kensington, Maryland, 
a suburb of Washington, DC. The district is significant primarily for the collection of 
late nineteenth and early twentieth century houses that stand in a turn-of-the-century 
garden-like setting of curving streets, tall trees, and mature shrubbery. The houses, 
which exhibit the influence of Queen Anne, Shingle, Eastlake, and Colonial Revival 
styles, have a uniformity of scale, design, and construction materials, that combine 
with their juxtaposition and placement upon the gently sloping terrain to create a 
significant urban neighborhood which still retains much of its early twentieth century 
environment.1 

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties (MIHP) documentation further provides the following 
description of the commercial area within the Kensington Historic District: 

Commercial-Area - Centered around the B&O RR Station. The oldest buildings 
appear to be the Curtis Bros. service station and the Mizell Lumber Co. - both located 
on the north side of the tracks. They are both low frame buildings, with some Victorian 
touches and German siding. Across the tracks, along Howard Ave., is an older general 
store, a ca. 1900 brick doctor’s office that originally housed the Montgomery Press (a 
local newspaper), part of some old town government buildings, and around the corner 
is the old McKeever’s Ice Cream Parlor...2

The Kensington Historic District (#31/6) was designated in the Montgomery County Master Plan for 
Historic Preservation and in the Maryland Inventory for Historic Places in 1978, and was listed in the 
National Register of Historic Places (ID # 80001827) in 1980. Neither the building located at 10500 
St. Paul Street nor the building located at 10520 St. Paul Street were included within the boundaries 
of the National Register of Historic Places historic district. Additionally, neither building has been 
individually designated. 

PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The MIHP form does not list a period of significance for the Kensington Historic District; however, 
the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) documentation identifies the period of significance 

1 National Register of Historic Places, Kensington Historic District, Kensington, Montgomery County, Maryland, National 
Register Number #80001827. 

2 “Kensington Historic District,” Maryland Historic Trust State Historic Inventory Form M:31-6. .
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